SHO J. WHITE

AUG 2 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURTE

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 82,002

KEVIN BERNARD BROWN,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

WENDY S. MORRIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0890537

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority in the trial court and Appellee in the district court of appeal, shall be referred to herein as "the State." Respondent, KEVIN BERNARD BROWN, defendant in the trial court and Appellant in the district court of appeal, will be referred to herein as "Respondent." References to the record on appeal, including the transcripts of the proceedings below, will be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 30, 1989, Respondent and Mr. Ronald Burch arrived at an Avenue B General Store, which was managed by Mr. Osborne Hall, the victim in the present case (R 171, 179). Mr. Hall testified that Respondent and Mr. Burch pulled guns on him; that they took \$1100.00 cash from him; that Mr. Burch told the victim that they had to kill him because he knew their identity; that Respondent and Mr. Burch fired four to five shots at him; and, that they wounded him twice in the hand, once in the face, once in the shoulder, and once in the neck (R 183-186, 209-210).

On August 22, 1990, Respondent was charged with the following offenses stemming from this criminal episode: (1) Armed robbery, (2) attempted first-degree murder, (3) use of a firearm in the commission of a felony, to wit: attempted first-degree murder, (4) shooting into a building, and (5) possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (R 35-36). On October 18, 1990, Respondent moved to sever count five relating to the offense of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and the trial court granted the motion to sever on October 19, 1990 (R 38-39, 47). On December 10, 1990, Respondent was found quilty by a jury of above-mentioned counts one through four (R 81-84). The trial court adjudicated Respondent guilty of the four offenses and imposed the following habitual felony offender sentences: (1) As to the offense of armed robbery, Respondent received a life sentence; (2) as to the offense of attempted first-degree murder, Respondent received a life sentence; (3) as to the offense of use of a firearm during

the commission of a felony, Respondent received a sentence of thirty years' incarceration; and, (4) as to the offense of shooting into a building, Respondent received a sentence of thirty years' incarceration (R 106-126). The sentences were to run concurrently to one another (R 106-126).

In a decision reported at Brown v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D981, D982 (Fla. 1st DCA Apr. 12, 1993), the First District Court of Appeal held that Brown's convictions and sentences for armed robbery and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony, to wit: attempted murder, violated Respondent's right against double The court stated that Section 775.021(4), Florida jeopardy. Statutes, prohibited looking at the charging document to determine that the "felony" element of the offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony was attempted premeditated murder, rather than armed robbery or any other felony. Id. The court then determined that the statutory elements of the offense of armed robbery and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony were identical, causing this case to fall within the first exception to the legislature's intent to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode, as expressed in Section 775.021(4)(b), Florida Statutes. Id.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A person who has been convicted of armed robbery and attempted first-degree murder may also be convicted of possession of a firearm in the commission of a felony, to wit: attempted first-degree murder. Under Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes, offenses are separate if without reference to the charging document each offense requires proof of a statutory element not found in the other. Contrary to the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, the statutory elements of the offenses of armed robbery and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony are not identical. In addition, the offense of armed robbery is not a necessarily lesser included offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony.

Under <u>Cleveland v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1991), this Court utilized a modified statutory analysis test to determine whether a double jeopardy violation had occurred and looked to the charging document to determine the underlying felony of the offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. Even under the <u>Cleveland</u> test, however, Respondent's convictions do not violate double jeopardy because reference to the charging document shows that the underlying felony was attempted first-degree murder, not armed robbery. Therefore, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER A PERSON WHO HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF ARMED ROBBERY WITH A FIREARM AND ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE MURDER WHICH ARISES OUT OF THE SAME CRIMINAL EPISODE OR TRANSACTION MAY ALSO BE CONVICTED OF POSSESSION OF A FIREARM DURING THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY, TO WIT: ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE MURDER, WHERE THERE HAS BEEN NO ENHANCEMENT OF THE ATTEMPTED MURDER CHARGE AS A RESULT OF THE FIREARM.

The trial court convicted Respondent inter alia of offenses of attempted first-degree murder, armed robbery and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony, to wit: attempted first-degree murder (R 36-38). The offenses arose out of a single criminal episode involving the robbery and shooting of Mr. Osborne In a decision reported at Brown v. Hall in a convenience store. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D981, D982 (Fla. 1st DCA Apr. 12, 1993), the First District reversed the conviction for use of a firearm in the commission of a felony, finding that such conviction was dual as to the armed robbery conviction. However, the Double Jeopardy Clause did not bar the trial court from convicting Respondent of armed robbery and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony, attempted first-degree murder because the legislature to wit: intended that Respondent be convicted of both offenses.

The role of courts in applying the Double Jeopardy Clause to multiple convictions and punishments arising from a single trial has been prescribed by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Missouri v. Hunter</u>, 459 U.S. 359, 103 S.Ct. 673, 74 L.Ed.2d 535 (1983), wherein the Court held that Hunter's convictions for armed

criminal action and the underlying felony of robbery in the first degree did not violate double jeopardy principles. The Court stated:

With respect to cumulative sentences imposed in a single criminal trial, the Double Jeopardy Clause does not more than prevent the sentencing court from prescribing greater punishment than the legislature intended.

"[T]he question of what punishments constitutionally permissible is not different from the question of what punishment Legislative Branch intended to be imposed. Where Congress intended, as it did here, to impose multiple punishments, imposition sentences does not violate [quoting from Albernaz Constitution." v. United States, 450 U.S. 333, 344, 101 S.Ct. 1137, 1145, 67 L.Ed.2d 275 (1981) (emphasis in original)].

Our analysis and reasoning in Whalen v. United States, 445 U.S. 684, 100 S.Ct. 1432, 63 L.Ed.2d 715] and Albernaz leads inescapably the conclusion that simply because construed criminal be statutes may proscribe the same conduct under Blockburger test does not mean that the Double Jeopardy Clause precludes the imposition, in a cumulative punishments single trial, of pursuant to those statutes.

legislature Where, as here, а specifically authorizes cumulative punishment under two statutes, regardless of whether statutes proscribe two the conduct under Blockburger, a court's task of statutory construction is at an end and the prosecutor may seek and the trial court or jury may impose cumulative punishment under such statutes in a single trial. (Emphasis added).

<u>Hunter</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 366-69 (footnote omitted). With respect to cumulative sentences arising from a single trial, the dispositive question is whether the legislature intended separate convictions and sentences for the two crimes. <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So. 2d 613, 614 (Fla. 1989).

The Double Jeopardy Clause, then, imposes no restriction on the power of the legislature to define crimes. If the legislature intends that defendants be convicted both of armed robbery and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony the convictions are not dual. Such intent must be determined from the language of the statutes involved because the legislature is assumed to know the meaning of words and to have expressed its intent by the use of the words in the statute. St. Petersburg Bank and Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414 So. 2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1982); S.R.G. Corp. v. Dept. of Revenue, 365 So. 2d 687, 689 (Fla. 1978); Thayer v. State, 335 So. 2d 815, 817 (Fla. 1976).

The 1988 Florida Legislature simplified the task of Florida courts vis-a-vis double jeopardy by amending Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1989), ¹ to include the following statement of legislative intent:

This section as amended is a codification of the following statutory element test used to determine whether two offenses are the "same", which was established in <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932):

The applicable rule is that where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision requires proof of a fact which the other does not.

775.021 Rules of Construction.

- Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.
- (b) The intent of the Legislature is to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to allow the principle of lenity as set forth in subsection (1) to determine legislative intent. Exceptions to this rule of construction are:
- 1. Offenses which require identical elements of proof
- 2. Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.
- 3. Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense. (Emphasis added).

See Fla. Stat. §775.021 (1989); ch. 88-131, § 7, Laws of Fla. In so amending the statute, the legislature limited previous abuse of the rule of lenity and reiterated a firm legislative intent to convict and sentence separately for each criminal offense occurring in the course of a criminal transaction or episode.

State v. McCloud, 577 So.2d 939, 940 (Fla. 1991). The United States Supreme Court has refined the <u>Blockburger</u> test, interpreting it as a mere "rule of statutory construction" rather than a constitutional "litmus test" that imposes a conclusive presumption of law. <u>Hunter</u>, supra, at 366-368; see also <u>United States v. Kragness</u>, 830 F.2d 842, 863 (8th Cir. 1987).

<u>Smith</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 616. The primary effect of the statutory amendment was to return the law of double jeopardy to its state before the Florida Supreme Court's decision in <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987). <u>Id</u>; <u>Collins v. State</u>, 577 So. 2d 986, 986 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

Regarding the legislative intent expressed in Section 775.021(4) as amended, this Court observed:

By its terms and by listing the only three instances where multiple punishment shall not be imposed, subsection 775.021(4) removes the need to assume that the legislature does not intend multiple punishment for the same offense, it clearly does not. However, the statutory element test shall be used for determining whether offenses are the same or Similarly, there will occasion to apply the rule of lenity to subsection 775.021(4) because offenses will either contain unique statutory elements or they will not, i.e., there will be no doubt of legislative intent and no occasion to apply the rule of lenity. (Emphasis original) (footnote omitted).

Smith, supra, at 616. See State v. McCloud, 577 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 1991) ("[S]ection 775.021(4)(a) precludes the court from examining the evidence to determine whether the defendant possessed and sold the same quantum of cocaine such that possession is a lesser-included offense of sale in any one case." (Emphasis added)).

The statutory elements of the offense of armed robbery are as follows: (1) Respondent took the money or property from the person or custody of the victim; (2) the taking was by force, violence or assault, or by putting the victim in fear; (3) the property taken was of some value; (4) at the time of the taking,

Respondent intended to permanently deprive the victim of the money and property; and, (5) Respondent carried a deadly weapon in the course of committing the robbery. See Fla. Stat. §812.13(1) & (2)(a) (1989); Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) at 155-56 (1985). The offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony consists of the following elements: (1) Respondent displayed or used a firearm; and, (2) he did so while committing or attempting to commit a felony. See Fla. Stat. §790.07(2) (1989); Fla. Std. Jury Inst. (Crim.) at 99 (1985).

In looking at the above-mentioned statutory elements, we see that armed robbery and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony contain unique elements. First, the offense of armed robbery may be proved by use of any deadly weapon and does not require proof of a firearm. In contrast, the offense of use of a firearm specifically requires proof of a firearm. defendant could commit the offense of armed robbery without committing the offense of use of a firearm because a defendant could rob a person with a deadly weapon such as a dirk, thereby committing the offense of armed robbery and not the offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. Second, the offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony requires proof of any crime falling within the felony class and does not require proof of an armed robbery or of any elements thereof. "felony" element is not found in the offense of armed robbery. Therefore, a defendant could commit the offense of use of a firearm without committing the offense of armed robbery because a defendant could commit a kidnapping or grand theft with a firearm,

thereby committing the offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony without committing the offense of armed robbery. Because the statutory elements of the offenses of armed robbery and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony are not identical, the two offenses are not the "same" under Blockburger. Therefore, they do not fall under the first exception to the legislature's intent to convict and sentence for each offense committed during a criminal episode, as set forth §775.021(4)(b)(1), Fla. Stat.

Armed robbery also is not a necessarily lesser included offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. State v. Enmund, 476 So. 2d 165, 168 (Fla. 1985), this Court held that a defendant can be convicted and sentenced for the offenses of felony murder and the underlying felony of robbery without violating double jeopardy principles. A jury convicted Enmund of two counts of felony murder and one count of robbery. Id. at 166. Citing Hunter, supra, this Court concluded that the underlying felony of robbery was not a necessarily lesser included offense of This Court stated that the Hunter felony murder. Id. at 167. Court made it clear that the Blockburger rule of statutory construction will not prevail over legislative intent to impose multiple punishments when both a murder and a felony occur during a single criminal episode. Id. Similarly, the offense of robbery or armed robbery is not a necessarily lesser included offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. As the Enmund Court held that the "felony" element of felony murder may be proved by many offenses other than robbery, the "felony" element

of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony also may be proved by many offenses. Thus, robbery is not a necessarily lesser included offense of use of a firearm and the two offenses do not fall under the third exception to the legislature's intent to convict and sentence for every offense committed during a criminal episode, as set forth in §775.021(4)(b)(3), Fla. Stat.

In <u>Cleveland v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1991), this Court utilized a modified statutory element analysis and consulted the charging document to determine the "felony" element of the offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. In concluding that Cleveland's convictions for attempted robbery with a firearm and use of a firearm while committing a felony constituted the same offense, this Court stated:

We hold that when a robbery conviction is enhanced because of the use of a firearm in committing the robbery, the single act involving the use of the <u>same</u> firearm in the commission of the <u>same</u> robbery cannot form the basis of a <u>separate</u> conviction and sentence for the use of a firearm while committing a felony under section 790.07(2). (Emphasis added).

Thus, the Court looked to the document charging the offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony to learn that the underlying felony was "the same robbery," rather than any other felony. The Court also looked to the information to determine that the offense of armed robbery involved the "same firearm," rather than any other deadly weapon.

The Cleveland decision does not cause Respondent's armed robbery and use of a firearm offenses to violate double jeopardy. The Cleveland decision turned on whether a person could be subjected to two penalties for committing the same act. instant case, however, the robbery and attempted murder, while a part of the same criminal episode, were distinct acts. Cleveland analysis is not applicable to the instant Nonetheless, under the Cleveland double jeopardy analysis, Respondent's convictions for armed robbery and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony, to wit: attempted first-degree murder pass double jeopardy muster. The charging document shows us that the underlying felony in the instant case was not robbery, rather the underlying felony was attempted first-degree murder, offense which had not been enhanced by virtue of a firearm.

In sum, a person who has been convicted of armed robbery may also be convicted of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony, to wit: attempted first-degree murder. Under Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes, offenses are separate if the statutory elements are not identical. The elements of armed robbery and use of a firearm are not identical. Also, the offense of robbery is not a necessarily lesser included offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. Therefore, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing legal authorities and arguments, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court answer the certified question in the affirmative, reverse the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, and reinstate Respondent's conviction for the offense of use of a firearm in the commission of a felony.