FILED
SID J. WHITE
SEP 1 1993 9/2
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 82,002

KEVIN BERNARD BROWN,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS AND INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF THE CROSS-APPEAL

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

÷

KATHLEEN STOVER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR NO. 0513253

###

-i-

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES PAGE(S)
Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932) 11,12,13,15
Brown v. State, 617 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1,15
Burdick v. State, 594 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1992) 18
<u>Carawan v. State</u> , 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987) 16
<u>Cleveland v. State</u> , 587 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1991) 11,15,16,18
Davis v. Ivey, 93 Fla. 387, 112 So. 264 (1926), cert. denied 275 U.S. 526 48 S.Ct. 19, 72 L.Ed. 407 (1927)
<u>Hall v. State</u> , 517 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1988) 16
Houser v. State, 474 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1985) 13
Johnson v. State, 616 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1993) 18
Lavette v. State, 442 So. 2d 265 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), review denied 449 So. 2d 265 (Fla. 1984) 8
Missouri v. Hunter, 459 U.S. 359, 103 S.Ct. 673, 74 L.Ed.2d 535 (1983) 12
Morrell v. State, 297 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974) 8,9,10
<u>State v. Enmund</u> , 476 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 1985) 14,15
<u>State v. Smith</u> , 547 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1989) 13
Thornes v. State, 485 So. 2d 1357 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied 492 So. 2d 1335 (Fla. 1986) 9,10
Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 1982) 7
Wells v. State, 336 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976) 8
STATUTES
Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes 12,13,15

Section 812.13, Florida Statutes 14

-ii-

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	:
Petitioner,	:
VS.	:
KEVIN BERNARD BROWN,	:
Respondent.	:
	:

CASE NO. 82,002

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS AND INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF THE CROSS-APPEAL

### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a state appeal from the decision of the First District Court of Appeal below, <u>Brown v. State</u>, 617 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Respondent was the defendant in the circuit court and the appellant in the district court. All proceedings were held in Duval County before Circuit Judge Hudson Olliff.

Volume I of the 10-volume record on appeal will be referred to as "R"; Volumes II through VIII will be referred to as "T." The supplemental record containing the hearing of November 13, 1990, will be referred to as "SR." The supplemental volume of the hearing held December 3, 1990, will be referred to as "ST."

-1-

# II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the state's statement of the case and facts as reasonably accurate, but makes the following addi-tions:

On December 30, 1989, Osborn "Shakey" Hall, manager of the Avenue B General Store, was robbed by two men and shot. Hall testified that one of the robbers was Ronald Burch, whom he had known for three years (T-179). At trial in December, 1990, Hall identified respondent, Kevin Brown, as Burch's companion (T-181-82). Hall testified that Burch was armed with a .38 revolver and the other man had an automatic pistol (T-183). Hall believed four to five shots were fired at him (T-184). Hall indicated that he had identified a photograph of Burch from a photospread detectives showed him at the hospital (T-211). He further indicated he identified Brown's photo from a separate photospread (T-213). He acknowledged that he was more positive of his identification of Burch than of Brown (T-216-17). Hall acknowledged having 5 or 6 felony convictions. He said he was on both probation and parole for three 1983 convictions of operating an illegal lottery (T-172-73).

Respondent requested the trial to reconsider its ruling on the state's motion in limine based upon the state's inquiries of Hall on direct examination:

> Q: Now, has anybody made you any promises to you to get you to testify here today, sir?

> Q: Has anybody made any dealings with you to get you to testify at all?

-2-

Q: Have I or anybody else told you that your probation would not be violated no matter what you said or anything like that?

(T-174,220-28). Defense counsel argued that these questions opened the door to defense inquiries about the nolle-pross of Hall's gambling charges, and the fact his parole was not violated, despite the new gambling charges. The judge denied the request (T-228). Defense counsel also requested that the state's motion in limine #1 be denied, particularly since the state had, on direct examination, questioned Hall about his "illegal occupations" (T-172,228-38). The court granted the state's motion (T-235).

Kevin Walker testified that, on December 30, 1989, he saw Kevin Brown and Calvin Broughton at George DeCosta's house. Brown said "he had to go make a lick," which in street talk, means to rob someone (R-318-20). Brown and Broughton left and Walker saw them later in the day with a "wad of money" (R-320). Walker said Brown was armed at that time with a .25 automatic (T-324).

Ronald Burch pleaded guilty to attempted second-degree murder and armed robbery in exchange for a 10-year sentence, conditioned on his testimony against Brown (T-345-47). Burch testified that he, Broughton and Brown robbed Shakey Hall at the Avenue B General Store. Burch was armed with a .38 revolver and Brown had a .25 automatic (T-350). Burch denied firing his weapon and indicated that Brown, after removing money from Hall's pockets, started shooting towards him (T-353). Burch testified that, before the robbery, Brown had said, "We'll have

-3-

to kill him if we go in the store and rob him, because he know your face" (T-356).

Detective Watson testified concerning Brown's written statement following his arrest January 4, 1990 (T-383-84). In that statement, Brown indicated that Burch and Kevin Walker robbed Shakey Hall and he (Brown) drove them there (T-394-96).

Detective Hill testified that he prepared two photospreads, one containing a photograph of Burch and the other containing a photo of Brown, which he showed to Hall (T-415-18). Hill indicated Hall positively identified the photo of Burch and signed the back (T-418). With respect to the second photospread, Hall did not, in Hill's opinion, make a positive identification, but rather, selected two photos, one being Brown's (T-419). Hill indicated that, when he read the written statement Detective Watson had received, he told Brown he was not being truthful (T-424-26). Hill left the interrogation room but did return, at which time, Brown admitted that he and Burch had gone inside the business (T-428-29). Hill then requested that Brown put that statement in writing. He left the statement form with Brown and, when he returned shortly thereafter, discovered pieces of torn paper. He gathered the small pieces of paper together and took them to the Florida Department Lab [sic] (T-429).

Detective Robinson, Hill's partner, testified that Brown admitted to him that he had participated in the robbery and had been one of the persons who shot the victim (T-45). Brown

-4-

indicated he was armed with a .25 and Burch had a .38 weapon (T-452).

David Warniment, an expert in firearm identification, testified that the three shell casings seized inside the store were .25 auto cartridge cases (T-500,299-300). The spent cartridge which had been seized from under Hall's shirt in the shoulder area was a .25 auto full metal jacketed bullet (T-500, 282-83,285,300).

At the close of the state's case, respondent moved for a judgment of acquittal, which was denied (T-526-27).

Tommy Reeves, a private detective, testified that, on March 12, 1990, Shakey Hall told him that he knew one of the persons who had robbed his store, but did not know the second one. He indicated that he could not identify the second person since he kept his head down most of the time he was there, and Burch had done most of the talking (T-567-68).

### **III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In his cross-appeal, respondent argues that he was denied a fair trial because he was denied the right to cross-examine Shakey Hall, the victim of the robbery and shooting, concerning Hall's previous arrests on gambling charges. Respondent was entitled to inform the jury of these charges and the fact they were nolle-prossed after the robbery here.

The certified question is whether a defendant can be convicted of attempted first-degree murder, armed robbery with a firearm, and use of a firearm in commission of a felony. The state confusingly argues both that <u>Blockburger</u> controls the double jeopardy issue here and that it does not not. Respondent argues that the First District Court below correctly conducted a <u>Blockburger</u> analysis, on the basis of which, it concluded that the use of a firearm conviction violated double jeopardy and must be vacated.

#### **IV ARGUMENT**

### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN GRANT-ING THE STATE'S MOTION IN LIMINE, THEREBY DEPRIVING RESPONDENT OF HIS RIGHT, GUARAN-TEED BY BOTH THE FLORIDA AND FEDERAL CON-STITUTIONS TO CONFRONT HIS ACCUSERS.

While respondent raised three guilt issues, the First District Court of Appeal addressed only two sentencing issues in its opinion, certifying the question which respondent addresses in Issue II of this brief. Under <u>Trushin</u>, once this court accepts jurisdiction of a case, it can reach any and all issues raised in the case. <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 1982). Respondent therefor asks this court to consider whether the trial court erred in granting the state's motion in limine, which prevented him from questioning the robbery victim about the circumstances surrounding gambling charges against him, which charges were dropped after the robbery and before respondent's trial.

Before trial, the state filed a motion in limine seeking to preclude the defense from eliciting facts concerning Osborn "Shakey" Hall's October 24, 1989, arrest for bookmaking and the subsequent nolle-pross of that charge (R-64-65). At a hearing on the motion, the fact of Hall's arrest was established. A violation of probation affidavit was also filed, and the arrest also caused a violation of parole hearing (ST-43,56). The charges were nolle prossed January 18, 1990, in order for Hall to render substantial assistance to the state attorney's office and the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office (R-66, ST-26-27). The

-7-

prosecutor indicated that, within one month to six weeks after the nolle pross, Hall had rendered the substantial assistance thereby precluding refiling of the charges (ST-27,31). The trial court granted the state's motion, precluding Brown from questioning Hall about these matters during cross-examination (R-80, T-133).

It is well-settled that bias or prejudice of a witness has an important bearing upon his credibility and evidence showing such bias is always relevant. <u>Wells v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 416 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). Cross-examination is the proper method by which to adduce evidence of bias or prejudice. <u>Davis v. Ivey</u>, 93 Fla. 387, 112 So. 264 (1926), <u>cert. denied</u> 275 U.S. 526, 48 S.Ct. 19, 72 L.Ed. 407 (1927). As noted in <u>Lavette v. State</u>, 442 So.2d 265, 268 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), <u>review denied</u>, 449 So.2d 265 (Fla. 1984), the defense should be allowed wide latitude to demonstrate bias or possible motive for a witness' testimony, and "any evidence tending to establish that a witness is appearing for the state for any reason other than to tell the truth should not be kept from the jury."

In <u>Morrell v. State</u>, 297 So.2d 579, 580 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974), the First District Court said:

It is clear that if a witness for the state were presently or recently under actual or threatened criminal charges or investigation leading to such criminal charges, a person against whom such witness testifies in a criminal case has an <u>absolute right</u> to being those circumstances out on crossexamination or otherwise so that the jury will be fully apprised as to the witness' possible motive or self-interest with respect to the testimony he gives.

-8-

Testimony given in a criminal case by a witness who himself is under actual or threatened criminal investigation or charges may well be biased in favor of the state without the knowledge of such bias by the police or prosecutor because the witness may seek to curry their favor with respect to his own legal difficulties by furnishing biased testimony favorable to the state. (emphasis added)

Thus, the actual existence of any agreement concerning testimony is not a prerequisite to the admissibility of this type of testimony. Rather, the "mere chance that a witness, in [his] own mind, may be attempting to curry favor is sufficient to allow for broad cross-examination in order to show bias." <u>Thornes v. State</u>, 485 So.2d 1357, 1359 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review</u> denied 492 So.2d 1335 (Fla. 1986).

In its brief in the district court, the state argued that evidence concerning the disposition of the charges against Hall was not admissible because it was remote in time from the trial. It is true that <u>Morrell</u> held that charges from another state, which related to a 2-year-old incident and had been dropped six months to a year earlier, were too remote to be relevant. The state explained that the charges against Hall here were dropped in January, 1990, and the trial was held in December, 1990, 11 months later. This comparison with <u>Morrell</u> is specious, however, because the robbery and shooting here occurred in December, 1989.

Thus, while it may have taken this case a year to go to trial, the charges against the victim/state witness Hall were nolle-prossed after the robbery and shooting and while charges

-9-

resulting from those crimes were pending. That is, there is a temporal nexus between the charges which were dropped and the charges which were tried which was not present in <u>Morrell</u>, where the charges on which the defense wanted to impeach the witness were unrelated in time or subject matter to the crimes being tried. Here, the crucial timing of the nolle-pross made that incident relevant to Hall's testimony.

As this court well knows, a nolle-pross is not an absolute barrier to the reinitiation of a prosecution. There is no guarantee that, had the state been displeased with Hall's testimony, it would not have reinstated the gambling charges. More to the point, Hall may have believed the charges could be reinstated, <u>see Thornes</u>, and this alone would have given him a motive to improve his testimony. This court should bear in mind that, while Hall was positive of his identification of Burch, whom he knew previously, he was not positive when he identified Brown as Burch's companion.

Brown contends he should have been allowed to cross-examine Hall concerning his October arrest and the subsequent nolle-pross of the charge. The fact that both the prosecutor and Hall's attorney denied that any consideration was given for Hall's testimony in Brown's trial (ST-42,29-30), was not dispositive, and was probably irrelevant. Rather, it was for the jury to determine with full knowledge of the facts whether Hall had a possible motive based on self-interest to give the testimony he gave. For that reason, respondent contends the trial court's ruling was error.

- 10-

#### ISSUE II/CERTIFIED QUESTION

WHETHER A PERSON WHO HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF ARMED ROBBERY WITH A FIREARM AND ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE MURDER WHICH ARISES OUT OF THE SAME CRIMINAL EPISODE OR TRANSACTION MAY ALSO BE CONVICTED OF POSSESSION OF A FIRE-ARM DURING THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY, TO WIT: ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE MURDER, WHERE THERE HAS BEEN NO ENHANCEMENT OF THE ATTEMPTED MURDER CHARGE AS A RESULT OF USE OF THE FIREARM.

Respondent Brown was found guilty of armed robbery with a firearm, attempted first-degree murder, and use of a firearm during commission of a felony, to wit: attempted first-degree murder. The First District Court of Appeal held that, under a <u>Blockburger/Cleveland</u> double jeopardy analysis, Brown could not be convicted of the use of a firearm charge, as its elements were shared with the other charges, and vacated it. <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932); <u>Cleveland v. State</u>, 587 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1991). The court certified the question, and the state appealed.

A <u>Blockburger</u> analysis focuses on whether each offense requires proof of an element which the other does not, to decide whether a defendant can be convicted of one offense or two. In <u>Cleveland</u>, this court held that, for the single act of using a firearm in committing a robbery, a defendant could be convicted only of armed robbery but not <u>also</u> convicted of use of a firearm in commission of a felony.

There is no question but that there is a vast potential for confusion in double jeopardy issues, and the state appears confused on what its position is. In quoting Missouri v.

-11-

<u>Hunter</u>, the state argues that a <u>Blockburger</u> analysis does <u>not</u> determine whether dual punishments may be imposed, but then argues that the legislature codified <u>Blockburger</u> in the 1989 amendment to section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes, as the test of double jeopardy in Florida. <u>Missouri v. Hunter</u>, 459 U.S. 359, 103 S.Ct. 673, 74 L.Ed.2d 535 (1983). The state quoted the following, inter alia, from Hunter:

> Our analysis and reasoning in <u>Whalen</u> and <u>Albernaz</u> leads inescapably to the conclusion that <u>simply because two criminal sta-</u> <u>tutes may be construed to proscribe the</u> <u>same conduct under the Blockburger test</u> <u>does not mean that the Double Jeopardy</u> <u>clause precludes the imposition, in a sin-</u> <u>gle trial, of cumulative punishments pursu-</u> <u>ant to those statutes. [Albernaz v. United</u> <u>States, 450 U.S. 333, 101 S.Ct. 1137, 67</u> <u>L.Ed.2d 275 (1981); Whalen v. United</u> <u>States, 445 U.S. 684, 100 S.Ct. 1432, 63</u> <u>L.Ed.2d 715 (1980)] (emphasis added in</u> <u>state's brief)</u>

<u>Missouri v. Hunter</u>, 459 U.S. at 368, (quoted in State's Merit Brief (SMB), p. 6). The state then argues:

> The 1988 Florida Legislature simplified the task of Florida courts vis-a-vis double jeopardy by amending Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1989), 1 to include the following statement of legislative intent: [quotes section 775.021(4) in its entirety]

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